
Bill Miner - the Grey Fox 

In the Pacific Northwest in 1901 

Chalk Courchane 

“He is reputed to have been the originator of the phrase "Hands up!"  an original song titled "The 

Ballad of Bill Miner" was written by singer/songwriter Phillip Mills (Eugene Quinn) and 

recorded by the San Francisco bay area band "The Blackout Cowboys". Legend has it that Bill 

Miner admonished his cohorts to fire their guns when in danger of capture but "do not kill a 

man". His aliases were: The Gentleman Robber or The Gentleman Bandit, for  his unusual 

politeness while he was committing robberies and the Grey Fox).” Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia    

He was born as Ezra Allen Miner, some accounts say his birth was sometime about 1846 in 

Bowling Green, Kentucky but by other accounts say he was born in Jackson, Kentucky and still 

others in Michigan, he was the son of a schoolteacher and a footloose father, a miner who 

deserted his family before the boy was ten. He inherited his father's restlessness.  

 “Even something as simple as Bill Miner's date and place of birth have long remained a mystery. 

At different times during his career, Miner claimed to have been born in four separate locations, 

with Kentucky being the most widely accepted. During his first term in the California state 

prison at San Quentin, he claimed Michigan as his birthplace, but he never again made that 

claim.” http://www.jcs-group.com/oldwest/outlaws/miner.html  

This account sounds possible: “Ezra Allen Miner was born in Vevay Township, Ingham County,  

Michigan, on December 27, 1846, to Joseph Miner (1810-1856) and his wife, Harriet Jane Cole  

(1816-1901). He had four siblings: Harriet R. (b. 1836), Henry C. (1840-1864), Mary Jane  

(1843-1920) and Joseph Benjamin (1853-1872). 

In 1860, following the death of Joseph Miner Sr., the family moved to Placer County, California, 

except for Henry who had enlisted in the Union Army. Miner dropped the name "Ezra" and 

began using "William" in the early 1860s. “He never legally changed his first name (which he 

evidently didn't like), but regarded William Allen Miner as his true name throughout most of his 

life.” Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia    

Throughout his criminal career he used a multitude of aliases but was always known formally as  

William Allen Miner.” http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  

Most of his life is nearly legendary and there are many stories of how he got out West. One is 

that when he was just past thirteen, he ran away to California "to become a cowboy." [Even though he 

moved out with his mother and siblings in 1860.] Finding his way to beautiful San Diego he drifted from ranch to 

ranch working as a cowpuncher and a bullwhacker. In his late years he liked to brag of his skill 
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with a mule team when he was a youngster working in the tough California mining towns. 
http://lngroup.ca/thebxstagecoach/outlawbillminer/main.html        

In 1863 when he was in San Diego the Apaches went on the warpath. Brigadier General George 

Wright, commanding the Division of the Pacific, announced he would pay $100 to any man who 

would ride through the Apache-infested country to deliver a message to a Colonel Corner, who 

was stationed in a fort on the Gila River.  Wright was well known for his brutal treatment of the 

Spokane Indians some years earlier.  

Miner, then as thin and slender as a jockey, volunteered and was given a "fast horse and General 

Wright's “God Speed”.  He rode all night, stopping off at the Tejon Ranch near Salt Lake to rest 

and feed his horse. Then he took off, swimming his horse across the Colorado River, to reach the 

colonel without incident. Within the hour he was back in the saddle, and the following morning 

rode up to General Wright's headquarters to receive $100 in gold and the general's thanks.   

When Miner had set out, several residents of San Diego gave him letters to be delivered to the 

fort and when Miner reported back that they had been delivered, some gave him $5 and $10 

pieces for his trouble. This gave Miner an idea, and with General Wright's blessing, he began a 

one-man mail service from San Diego to the Gila River fort and other points, charging $5, $10, 

and $25. But as fast as he earned the money, Miner spent it, and before long he was forced to 

turn over his horses and equipment to creditors.” http://lngroup.ca/thebxstagecoach/outlawbillminer/main.html “In 

1865, Miner stole a $50 watch and an expensive suit from a store. The theft of a horse enabled 

him to travel to San Francisco. On his way, he met a 15-year-old named John Sinclair. They 

rented horses, which they did not return, and on January 22, 1866, they robbed a ranch hand of 

$80, though Miner returned $10, securing his reputation as a Gentleman. They were captured 

the next day and were sentenced to three years in prison, followed by two more for the theft of 

the first horse. Miner was released after four years on July 12, 1870.” http://www.rcmpgrc.gc.ca/hist/hh-

ps/miner-eng.htm [He was arrested for the first time in 1866 in San Joaquin County, California and served time there. He was shortly released 

but served more time at Placer County, California and later at Calaveras County, California. He was discharged in 1880. Wikipedia] 

“In 1869, following the theft of his property by creditors, Bill, with a very inept horse robbed his 

first stagecoach in the Sonora desert, and got away for a while with a few hundred dollars.  A 

posse came after Bill, and he was caught as his horse tired and dropped in the pursuit.” He went 

to San Quentin Prison, California. It is said that in Calaveras County, California celebrated by 

Mark Twain’s jumping frog story Miner robbed stage coaches carrying gold from the Sierra 

Nevada foothills. Bill Miner part 1, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum Curator/Archivist, April 15, 1983, page 2.  

“Miner then joined William Harrington aka Alkali Jim for a successful series of burglaries. In 

1871, they were joined by Charlie Cooper. On January 23, 1871, the three men held up a train, 

where they stole a five dollar gold piece, as well as the watch and boots off Bill Cutler, the 

driver, although they returned them. They then opened a strongbox and took $2,600 worth of 

gold dust and coins. They did not wear masks and because of the telegraph, their descriptions 

were widespread. They hid, but when Cooper went into town, the others escaped with the money. 
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In retaliation, Cooper went to San Francisco and told authorities where to find them. Both Miner 

and Alkali Jim were caught and sentenced to 13 years.” http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/hist/hhps/miner-eng.htm  

  

http://www.liveauctioneers.com/item/3832173  

Above is a single letterpress sheet, approx. 12x17½", affixed to stiff paper and linen-backed. 

Rare Wells, Fargo & Co. reward poster, offering $100 for the capture of "Wm. Harrington, alias 

Wm. Waverly, alias Chas. Johnson, alias Jas. W. Clark, alias Alkali Jim" issued following his 

escape from San Quentin Prison on July 17th, 1875. Alkali Jim, along with his partners Charles 

Cooper and William Miner, had been convicted in 1872 for the 1871armed robbery of a Wells, 

Fargo & Co. stage coach near San Andreas, California. Alkali Jim is described as "Age about 37 

years; Height 5 feet 8½ inches; light complexion; high full forehead; red-brown hair, straight; 

large grey eyes; large round nose; long face; red cheeks; stout built; weighs about 170 pounds; 

lower part of ears very small, apparently shriveled up." Heading: (Wells, Fargo & Co.) 

Published: San Francisco  Date: July 19, 1875  http://www.liveauctioneers.com/item/3832173  

“Miner only served two years behind San Quenton’s prison walls before he masterminded his 

first escape.  But his freedom lasted only a few hours and he was caught and sent to the hole.”  Bill 

Miner part 1, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum   Curator/Archivist, April 15, 1983, page 2.  

“Miner was released on July 14 1880, after serving nine years, and went to live with his sister,  

Mary Jane Wellman, in Colorado Springs to work for her husband’s mine. He did not stay for  

long.” http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/hist/hh-ps/miner-eng.htm    By this time he was in his mid-thirties and had spent 

almost half his life locked up.  

“Miner’s next associate in crime was a farmhand named Arthur Pond. On September 1, 1880, 

they stole $50 and two mail sacks in Ohio City, Colorado (an old gold and silver town now a 

ghost town). On October 14, they held up a stagecoach on the Del Norte route, and hit a jackpot 

of $4,000. To elude authorities, Miner and Pond changed their names to William A. Morgan and 

Billy LeRoy. The authorities were not fooled. Pond was soon caught and sentenced to 10 years, 

although he escaped.  He met first with his brother, then with Miner, and a new spree began. The 

Del Norte (Colorado) route was attacked on May 15 and again on May 18, 1881. While Miner 
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was buying supplies with this new money, the Pond brothers were caught and lynched by a mob 

of angry citizens outside the jail house. The loss of these boys did not derail Miner.” 
http://www.rcmpgrc.gc.ca/hist/hh-ps/miner-eng.htm    

But according to this account: “The same year that Bill Miner was released from San Quentin, he 

left California for Colorado, and met up with legendary Colorado highwayman, Bill Leroy one of 

the most daring of the Rocky Mountain highwaymen. Together they carried out several train and 

stagecoach robberies, but then vigilantes set out after them, later capturing and hanging Leroy.” 
http://wesmantoddshaw.hubpages.com/hub/Bill-Miner-The-Gentleman-Bandit  

As this story tells it: “Arthur Pond (alias Billy Leroy), had a short lived career as an outlaw. He 

terrorized stage coaches throughout southern Colorado, but met his demise when the Del Norte 

sheriff cornered him 11 miles east of Lake City. Determined to bring him to trial, Sheriff 

Armstrong snuck into town with his prisoner only to have a lynch mob take Billy Leroy and his 

brother and string them up to a cottonwood tree near the old Barlow Sanderson Stage Station. 

The next day, they propped the two outlaws up against the jail with the rope still wrapped around 

their necks.” http://www.boogiesdelnorte.com/town_history.html  

According to Bill Miner and it is doubtful that these events occurred, “From San Francisco, Bill 

left aboard a ship for London, England. Though Bill never admitted to any train robberies, or 

other mischief in England, one can never be sure.   

For several months he toured Europe. Though he denied holding up any trains, American Style, 

he recalled that he thought about it more than once.   

In Turkey, after several adventures with desert bandits, Miner left Turkey and continued his 

travels to Africa.  In Capetown, he got the idea of holding up a diamond train, but his better 

sense did prevail him "when I saw they (the guards) would be too much for me."   

Reluctantly he left the diamond fields and sailed for South America, settling for a time in Rio de 

Janeiro, where he engaged in gun running and pulled a few jobs. A South American tour 

followed, but Miner yearned for the West and in about 1880 he returned to the United States. 
http://lngroup.ca/thebxstagecoach/outlawbillminer/main.html  

It wasn't long before he was back in business as a road agent. On November 8, 1881, he held up 

the Sonora, California stage, netting $3,000. “Hands up and not a hair on your head will be  

harmed” Bill declared. One of their stage coach robberies was at Angel’s Camp the haunt of 

writer Bret Harte.  They reportedly got $4,000 here.  Bill Miner part 1, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum   

Curator/Archivist,  April 15, 1983, page 3.  Miner is said to have originated the expression, "Hands up," and 

was one of the first highwaymen to operate on the Pacific Coast.    

“In 1881, Miner (now known as William Anderson), Jim Crum, Bill Miller and a man named 

Stanton Jones, "held-up" a stage between Sonora and Milton, California. All were captured 
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except Jones but only after some gunfire.  Crum confessed.   Miller and Miner were sentenced to 

25 years each, Crum to twelve years.   

Miner escaped once again but again was recaptured and thrown into the hole. He was released 

from San Quentin, California, on June 17, 1901, and two years later on September 23, 1903, with 

two others he "held-up " and robbed the Oregon Railroad and Navigation passenger train No. 6, 

at Mile Post 21, near Corbett, Oregon. One of his companions was badly wounded. The other 

was later arrested and both were sentenced to long terms, but Miner (now known as Bill 

Morgan), for whom a reward of $1,300 had been offered, was not captured.”  They had 

dynamited the baggage car instead of the express car which turned the robbery into a fiasco.  

 

He next appeared in Chicago, where, as a Pinkerton Agency report revealed, "he purchased an 

outfit of fashionable clothing, and in a few days went to Onondaga, Michigan, under the name of 

W. A. Morgan, a wealthy man from California.” After losing most of his money across the Faro 

table, Miner returned to the outlaw trail, this time in the company of a young gunfighter named 

Stanton T. Jones of Chillicothe, Ohio, "who was the same type as myself." 
http://lngroup.ca/thebxstagecoach/outlawbillminer/main.html  

“In March 1882, they again stopped the Del Norte stage in Colorado, but the loot this time was 

only a few hundred dollars. A posse took up the chase and for four days it was a run-and-fight 

battle through the canyons and gullies. Miner and Jones were excellent shots and the posse men 

turned back after three men had been shot out of their saddles.”  

http://lngroup.ca/thebxstagecoach/outlawbillminer/main.html  

“They met in Saguache County and were captured in San Juan, although they soon escaped to 

rob the Deming stagecoach line in New Mexico. Their next trip was to California by rail. There, 

Miner joined the team of Jim Crum, Ben Frazee and William Tod Hunter. Wearing masks, and 

referring to each other by number not name, they held up the Sonora train, getting $3,800. All 

were captured. Crum was sentenced to 12 years, while Miner and Miller both got 25, although as 

usual, Miner did not serve his entire sentence.   

When he and his cell mate, Joe Marshal, attempted to escape, Marshal was killed and Miner  

was shot in the cheek.” http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/hist/hh-ps/miner-eng.htm  

Back in California Bill, now with a gang of new followers, robbed a few stagecoaches, and he 

and his entire gang were caught. This time Bill received a 25-year sentence in San Quentin, on 

June 17, 1901, he was released for good behavior.  http://wesmantoddshaw.hubpages.com/hub/Bill-Miner-The- 

Gentleman-Bandit, http://lngroup.ca/thebxstagecoach/outlawbillminer/main.html  

“By this time the 54-year-old Bill Miner had a white mustache and soft smile giving the 

appearance of a peace-loving middle-aged gentleman. He even went straight. For two years, that 

is.” http://www.4jranch.com/cokestories/Miner.htm   
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Although generally armed, he reportedly never killed anyone and directed most of his criminal 

activities toward corporations rather than the public. Upon his release from San Quentin after 20 

years, Miner discovered that stagecoaches had become obsolete; railroads now carried all the 

high-value cargo.” http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285 “Miner was released 

from prison on June 17, 1901, at the age of 55.  Retirement was not in his immediate future, 

however.”  

 

“After leaving San Quentin, Miner made his way to Washington State ostensibly to visit his two 

sisters, Harriet and Mary Jane, the last surviving members of his family, and to regain his life. 

Louis W. Wellman (1840-1915) and his wife, Mary Jane (Miner), had a 160-acre homestead on 

Hannigan Road, south of Lynden in Whatcom County. Their daughter, Dora (1868-1933), was 

married to John J. Cryderman (1861-1953), a civil engineer, and he, in partnership with 

Wellman, owned an oyster bed on Samish Bay near Blanchard in Skagit County. Wellman gave 

Miner an opportunity to redeem himself and gave him gainful employment picking oysters.   

In reality, Miner had gone to Whatcom County to join forces with John E. "Jake" Terry (1853-

1907), his former San Quentin cell mate. Terry had been released from the penitentiary on June 

2, 1902, and he and Miner rendezvoused in Bellingham. Terry, alias "Cowboy Jake" was a career 

criminal and had lived in northwest Washington for many years. Most of his activities involved 

smuggling illegal aliens and opium, but he had also tried counterfeiting, albeit unsuccessfully. 

Terry took up residence in Sumas on the U.S.-Canadian Border. Locally, he was known as 

"Terrible Terry" because of his often erratic and violent behavior.” 
http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  

“Miner managed to stay out of trouble until the summer of 1903, when he was contacted by Gay 

Harshman, age 43, another acquaintance from San Quentin State Penitentiary. Harshman, also an 

habitual criminal, decided to rob a train and enlisted Miner’s assistance. Neither Harshman nor 

Miner knew the first thing about train holdups, but forged ahead with their plans. While picking 

oysters, Miner had befriended Charles Hoehn, a 17-year-old who lived in Equality Colony, a 

socialist community near Edison on Samish Bay, and inveigled the youth into joining the 

scheme.  

On Saturday night, September 19, 1903, the bandits intended to rob the Oregon Railroad & 

Navigation Company (OR&N) passenger train to Chicago. They chose Clarnie, a small town 10 

miles east of Portland, for the heist, theorizing that after the robbery they could hide in the big 

city of Portland. But nothing transpired as planned and the train sped on by the intended site of 

the robbery.  

Undaunted, the trio made a second holdup attempt on Wednesday night, September 23, 1903, 

this time near Troutdale, 15 miles east of Portland. The gang used several sticks of dynamite to 

blow the doors off the express car. The messengers inside resisted with deadly force. A short gun 

battle ensued during which Harshman was hit in the head with a load of buckshot and presumed 

dead. Realizing the futility of the robbery attempt, Miner and Hoehn fled, leaving Harshman 



behind. News of the holdup was immediately wired to Portland and a large posse, led by 

Multnomah County Sheriff William Storey and Captain James Nevins, head of the Pinkerton 

Detective Agency in Oregon, was dispatched to the scene on a special train. Harshman was 

found lying in a ditch, unconscious and bleeding profusely from a head wound. He was taken 

into custody and transported to Good Samaritan Hospital in Portland for medical treatment. 

Physicians thought Harshman would probably die without regaining consciousness, but he did 

not.  

Meanwhile, Miner and Hoehn crossed the Columbia River to Washington in a rowboat. The pair 

split up, agreeing to meet in Tacoma before returning to Skagit County. There were no leads to 

their identities and the bandits avoided capture for a time.  Harshman eventually recovered and 

related the details of the holdup, naming his confederates and where they could likely be found.  

Captain Nevins ferreted out Hoehn’s location through an informant and on Wednesday, October 

7, 1903, had him arrested in Skagit County by Sheriff Charles A. Risbell (1869-1904). Hoehn 

soon confessed to the attempted robbery and fingered Miner as being involved. Miner learned of 

these developments from the Bellingham Herald and, fearing his own arrest, fled to Canada with 

the help of smuggler Jake Terry. He left behind at the Wellman residence Harshman’s overcoat 

stained with blood. Sheriff Storey, armed with an arrest warrant, went to Bellingham, but he was 

a day late. Miner had already decamped, but Storey seized the bloody overcoat as evidence of his 

involvement in the crime.  

Harshman and Hoehn were removed to Portland, Oregon, for trial. On Friday, November 13, 

1903, Harshman, still suffering from his head wound, pleaded guilty to assault with a deadly 

weapon and the attempted holdup of a passenger train.  Hoehn’s case went to trial and he was 

found guilty of the same charges. Multnomah County Superior Court Judge John B. Cleland 

sentenced Harshman to 12 years and Hoehn to 10 years imprisonment at the Oregon State 

Penitentiary in Salem. Oregon Governor George E. Chamberlain commuted Hoehn's sentence 

because of his young age, and he was released from prison on November 14, 1907.  Harshman 

was released on March 28, 1912, after serving more than eight years of his sentence.” 
http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  

“Meanwhile, Miner made his way to Princeton, British Columbia, and took up residence at the 

Schisler farm, using the alias George W. Edwards. He claimed to be a mining engineer who had 

a gold mine in Argentina. Miner befriended a fellow American named Jack Budd who had a 

ranch nearby the Schisler’s.  One source says that Jack Budd was his brother, Bill was to stay 

here and work, but still pretending to be a Southern gentleman. He made many friends in the 

area.  Bill Miner part 2, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum   Curator/Archivist,  April 22, 1983, page 1.  

He moved to the Budd ranch in the summer of 1904 and made it his base of operations. In 

Princeton, Miner met another American named J. William Grell (1869-1927), alias William J. 

“Shorty” Dunn, and cultivated his friendship.” 
http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285    
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Miner persuaded Dunn to accompanying him on hunting trips and on cattle drives to the coast, 

one which happened to coincide with the holdup of a C. P. R. Trans-Continental at Silverdale, 

near Mission in the Fraser Valley. Bill Miner part 2, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum   Curator/Archivist, April 22, 1983, 

page 1.  

 “While living in British Columbia, Miner joined forces with Jake Terry in smuggling 

undocumented Chinese immigrants and opium across the border into the United States. At one 

time, Terry had worked as a railroad engineer and he had an understanding of rail operations as 

well as knowledge of the obscure border crossings in Whatcom County. Together, they hatched a 

plot to hold up a train in Canada. Miner recruited Dunn, who was pliant by nature, to participate 

in robbery. After due consideration, Terry and Miner decided to target the Canadian Pacific 

Railway (CPR) Transcontinental Express No. 1 at Mission, 40 miles east of Vancouver, where 

the steam locomotive stopped to take on water.” 
http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  

Later Miner and two accomplices, later identified as William “Shorty” Dunn and Jake Terry, were 

involved in the first train robbery in Canada. on September 10, 1904 at Silverdale about 40 miles east of 

Vancouver, just west of Mission City, British Columbia, "held-up" the Canadian Pacific Co.'s railway's 

transcontinental express, securing $10,000 in gold dust and currency.  

Miner also took a .38 revolver from an express messenger present on the train. For his capture 

$5,000 reward was offered by the Government of the Dominion of Canada, $5,000 by the 

Canadian Pacific and the Dominion Express Co. and $1,500 by the Province of British 

Columbia.   

The story goes like this: At 9:30 p.m. on Saturday, September 10, 1904, the CPR express train 

pulled under the water tower at Mission Station. The area was covered by dense ground fog, 

enabling the three bandits to climb aboard unnoticed. They hid on the platform behind the coal 

tender until the train left the station and then accosted engineer Nathaniel J. Scott and fireman 

Harry Freeman at gunpoint. Scott was forced to stop the train at Silverdale crossing, 

approximately five miles west of Mission, and there uncouple the engine and express car from 

the passenger cars. The brakeman, William Abbott, escaped from the train and ran back to 

Mission to report the crime, but the station agent didn't believe his story.   

Miner had Scott move the engine and express car a few miles up the tracks and then forced the 

express messenger, Herbert Mitchell, to open the safe which contained $6,000 in gold dust 

(Caribou gold dust from Ashcroft) and $1,000 in cash, and registered mail. Before leaving, 

Miner collected the pouch of registered mail which contained $50,000 in U.S. government bonds 

and an estimated $250,000 in negotiable Australian securities. The holdup had taken only 30 

minutes. To further delay the train, the bandits threw the fireman’s shovel into the coal hamper 

feeding the engine.   

This was the first successful train robbery in Canadian history. Historically there were just two 

train robberies attempted in Canada, both by Bill Miner and his gang. For the Mission robbery, 
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rewards totaling $15,500 were offered for Bill, "dead or alive," by the Canadian Pacific Railway, 

the Canadian government, and the Province of British Columbia.   

Upon reaching Vancouver, the train crew told the British Columbia Provincial Police and 

Canadian Pacific Railway detectives that the robbers had American accents and appeared to be 

professionals. The police enlisted the assistance of the Pinkerton Detective Agency, which had 

experience chasing train robbers. Captain James E. Dye, head of the Pinkerton office in Seattle, 

was eager to help and immediately dispatched several agents to the border. The British Columbia 

government and Canadian Pacific Railway offered rewards totaling $11,500 for the capture of 

the bandits. Railroad officials were concerned because the Canadian Pacific was financially 

responsible for the stolen bonds and securities. The Canadian government was concerned that 

outlaws, thinking trains were easy prey, might start a crime wave.   

The leads all went nowhere and after about a week the official hunt for the train robbers was 

discontinued. Captain Dye was convinced that Bill Miner was responsible for the heist as he was 

the only person who fit the gang-leader’s description. Pinkerton detectives were still searching 

for Miner in connection with the Oregon Railroad & Navigation Co. train robbery committed one 

year earlier.   

Miner convinced his partners that the bonds and securities were too big to fence, easy to trace, 

and therefore worthless. Aware that they might be useful in the future, however, he carefully hid 

these assets where no one else could find them. After dividing the gold and cash, the gang split 

up: Miner returned to the Budd ranch, Dunn to Princeton, and Terry to Sumas to resume 

smuggling.   

It wasn’t long before Miner was considered the prime suspect in the Canadian Pacific Railway 

robbery at Mission. Terry and Dunn, however, were unknown and remained in the clear. Miner 

hatched a plot to return the bonds and securities to the CPR without risking capture, using Terry 

as an intermediary. Mainly he wanted immunity from arrest and prosecution in Canada, but 

Terry could demand a handsome finders-fee from the railroad which the two crooks would then 

split. Terry attempted to pursue the scheme to extort the railroad, but the CPR feigned little 

interest, denying that any bonds or securities had been stolen. 
“http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  

It is often claimed that Miner was the robber, but neither he nor his accomplices were ever tied 

conclusively to the botched Silverdale heist. It is also widely reported that Silverdale's train 

robbery was the first in Canada, but Peter Grauer's definitive study ("Interred With Their Bones", 

2005) cites a train robbery in Port Credit, Ontario 30 years prior as the first.  

On Monday, October 2, 1905, the eastbound Great Northern Railway Flyer was held up at the 

Raymond brickyard, five miles north of Ballard (now part of Seattle) in King County, 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Port_Credit,_Ontario
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Port_Credit,_Ontario


Washington. Although the bandits were never apprehended, a British Columbia newspaper 

named Bill Miner and Jake Terry as the likely culprits.   

Terry had been a railroad engineer and was familiar with the Great Northern route through the 

Puget Sound region. And the modus operandi was very similar to Miner’s. A masked bandit 

snuck onto the platform in back of the coal tender as the train moved slowly out of Seattle. He 

then accosted the engineer, John Calder, and the fireman, Edward Goulett, and forced them to 

stop the train at a place along the tracks marked by a campfire. He was there joined by another 

masked bandit with an armload of dynamite, which they used to blow open the safe. It was 

rumored that the holdup men stole as much as $36,000 in gold bullion, but the actual amount is 

unknown. The Great Northern Railway claimed the loss was approximately $700, not counting 

the damage to the express car.   

 

Terry was irate when the newspapers named him as a possible suspect in the Great Northern 

Railway robbery. He claimed he was sick in bed at the Mount Baker Hotel in Bellingham on that 

day and had no knowledge of Bill Miner’s whereabouts. Great Northern offered a reward of 

$5,000 for the arrest and conviction of each of the holdup men. Washington State Governor 

Alfred E. Mead (1861-1913) offered an additional $1,000 reward for the capture of the bandits. 

But the crime went unsolved.” http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  

“George Edwards (Bill Miner) carried on as before buying and selling cattle and horses, 

occasionally working as a ranch hand. Never short of cash and often on the move, he was well 

known and well liked in Princeton, Kamloops and the Nicola valley. On October 6, 1905, Bill 

Miner robbed the Overland Limited just outside Seattle. George Edwards had been working at 

Douglas Lake a little before that, or maybe he was at Princeton… When a fellow moves around a 

lot, no one notices when he comes and goes. But whenever a train gets robbed, the Pinkerton 

Detectives notice. From 1901 to 1906 there were several train robberies in several states 

throughout the U.S. attributed to Bill Miner but the Pinkertons could find neither hide nor hair of 

him.   

Later in 1905 Bill Miner with four others rustled fifty head of horses near Spokane, and then sold 

them in Canada.  Bill Miner part 2, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum   Curator/Archivist, April 22, 1983, page 1.  
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“Dancing Girl Tattoo Identifies Bill Miner 

Mail Clerk McQuarrie Declares He is Robber Leader 

His Eyes Are Very Shifty 

C.P. R. Detective Bullick Says He Can Recognize Family Resemblance – Saw Miner Stripped. 

Kamloops, B.C., May 6. – (Special) - C.R. P. Detective Bullick, interviewed this morning said: 

 

I have not the slightest doubt that the old man in custody is Bill Miner.  I am well acquainted 

with Miner’s sisters, and can recognize the family likeness even if I had not other proofs.  Last 

night I saw the man stripped … He was lathering his hands, and I asked him to turn them over, 

wishing to identify a stencil mark on his arm.  He turned his hand over, but not enough for me to 

see all of it.  I asked him again when he was wiping his face, and on his second refusal seized 

hold of the arm and turned it over. 

“There was the dancing-girl tattoo, well known to be on Bill Miner’s arm.  Other marks 

correspond also.  He has a scar on his hand which corresponds with the Pinkerton’s description.  

His eyes also are unmistakable. 

Asked why Miner did not put up a fight, Mr. Bullick said that Miner has never been of the 

desperate kind of robber, but has always been quiet, even when arrested the last time.  He has a 

characteristic turn of the head, and his eyes are crafty as if always watching for a loophole of 

escape. 



Mail Clerk McQuarrie was asked if he identified the old man as a train robber.  He said, 

“Emphatically yes; I cannot be mistaken.” The Province, Vancouver, British Columbia, May 16, 1906 

“Bill Miner Had Checkered Career 

Served Terms In American Prisons 

His Adventures in Colorado and Other States Are Recounted … Holdup of Stage in Califiornia. 

Old Bill Miner has at last been captured. There is no doubt in the minds of the detectives and 

police now at Kamloops concerning the identity of the leader of the gang caught at Douglas Lake 

on Monday afternoon- he is the notorious train-robber for whose capture dead or alive large 

standing rewards have been offered for the past three years. 

Last night Miner, alias Edwards, was stripped to the buff at the Kamloops jail, and detectives and 

police examined him as if he had been a strange insect under a laboratory miscroscope.  There on 

the man’s body were in plain sight all the distinguishing marks peculiar to Bill Miner.  The mole 

here, the scar there, and the general measurements all told their story, but despite the complete 

identification Miner stoutly maintained that his name was Edwards, and that he had never heard 

of Old Bill Miner, whose name has for yrears in certain sections of the West been used to 

frighten naughty children into obedience. 

The mere denial of Edwards that he had never heard of Old Bill Miner stamps the man as a most 

disobliging prevaricator, because the man’s name is known to every person in the West where 

his operations, extending over a period of thirty years, have made him notorious. 

If Old Bill Miner’s history could be gathered from his own hand it would be most romantic 

reading.  As it is, that part of his life of which the police have record is replete with spellbinding 

situations, for the old man has figured in many a daring holdup of stage and express train. 

Apart from the probable leading part Bill Miner took in the C.P. R. holdup near Mission Junction 

in September, 1904, when $7000 was lifted from an express car, Miner’s most recent exploit as a 

train-robber occurred in September, 1903, when he and two companions held up and robbed an 

O.R. & N. train near a small way station known as Corbett.” 

With a more or less active criminal history for the last twoscore years on the coast, Miner is now 

getting to be a pretty old man.  In June 17, 1901, he was liberated from San Quentin 

pentitentiary, Caliofornia, where he had been confined for twenty-five years.  Then he came 

north, and is supposed to have lost no time in carrying out the O. R. & N. job two years ago. 

Since then the hunt for him has been continuous, but not until the present week was he located. 

 



It is said to have been some time during the year 1879 that he was released from San Quentin 

after serving a number of years for stage robbery. Directly after he was set at liberty he was lost 

to the notice of the officers of that state, and for his reason it was rightly conjectured that he had 

enough California justice, and had departed for other fields, where official vigilance was more 

lax, and stages and cashboxes were quite numerous. 

Early in November, 1880, however, he arrived in Denver, Col., and while there he met the noted 

Billy Leroy, who had become celebrated as one of the most daring Rocky Mountain 

highwaymen.  Leroy had, on many occasions, given the United States Government and express 

companies of Colorado great trouble, but with an ingenuity that was considered little less than 

marvelous, he eluded capture.  Upon Miner’s arrival Leroy was much taken with the 

Californian’s dashing tales of his many captures on the Pacific coast, and, upon invitation, 

readily linked to the destinies of his criminal future with those of the new arrival. 

Enter Mr. Morgan. 

As Miner prepared himself for the building of a criminal record in Colorado, he assumed the 

name of W. A. Morgan, but was familiarly known among his associates as California Billy.  

Together the pair, with a recklessness which highwaymen only can assume, did all the principal 

towns of Colorado, and finally in the early part of December, 880, were landed without a cent.  

They at once set out on a prospecting tour toward the southwestern part of Colorado.  About the 

middle of the month they robbed the Del Norte stage, from which desperate piece of work they 

received some $3000.  Leroy was subsequently captured and hanged by a vigilance committee, 

not for this robbery in particular, but for a large number of previous misdeeds of a similar nature. 

Miner, with his usual good-luck, escaped with all the booty and evaded the most vigilant search 

ever instituted in the state for a fugitive highwayman. 

Robbed Stage Again. 

Miner made good his escape, but soon returned to Denver.  There Miner met Stanton T. Jones, 

formerly of Ohio, and the two started for the Rio Grande country on a foraging expedition.  In 

March, 1881, they stopped the Del Norte stage again, but the booty they received paid them 

poorly for the risk they had run.  Stealing two horses near Del Norte, they fled north again.  After 

a tedious search lasting four days, the robbers were seen at about dusk riding leisurely across a 

bridge about forty miles from Del Norte. They were armed, but were finally covered by rifles of 

the officers and captured.  Sheriff  Brenaugh tied the two prisoners with bailing wire as well as 

he could, and, putting them on a freight wagon, started for Del Norte the same evening.  They 

were compelled to camp at a place called Wagonwheel Gap for the night. Brenaugh and is 

companion, named Goodven, were so completely exhausted that they fell into a deep sleep about 

11 o’clock that night, leaving the teamster in charge of the prisoners. 



The Prisoners Escaped. 

About 1 o’clock the officers were aroused by the loud cries of the teamster.  Springing from their 

beds, they were startled by the sharp report of a pistol.  The shot broke Goodven’s arm.  The 

officers at once realized that Miner and Jones had succeeded in untying themselves, and with a 

pistol that had been overlooked in the search were making a desperate fight.  Thevsecond shot 

broke the sheriff’s right arm at the shoulder, and the third and fourth shots struck Goodvin in the 

left arm, completely disabling him.  The two desperado’s then dashed away in the darkness, and 

were seen no more. 

Miner went direct to San Francisco, traveling the entire distance on horseback, via Livermore to 

Oakland, arriving in San Francisco five days after the robbery. 

Miner’s Capture. 

Miner was still pursued, and in company with another of his gang named Muller took off down 

the Sacramento River.  Thither they were pursued by Captain Auil, under whom Miner had 

served four years in San Quentin.  Auil came upon his men suddenly, and commenced firing at 

them. At almost the first round Muller threw down his gun and came running in with both hands 

in the air. Miner took flight, but was pursued by one of Auil’s specials, and finally forced to 

surrender.  Both Miner and Muller were taken to Sacramento. 

The confession of Crum made the case an easy one.  The culprits pleaded guilty. Miner and 

Muller getting twenty-five years each and Crum twelve years.”   The Province, Vancouver, British Columbia, 

May 16, 1906 

He then lived at Hedley a few months where Dunn worked at the Nickel Plate Mine, presumably 

studying the shipments of gold to the coast.  

“Again at the Budd Ranch in 1906, Miner made acquaintance with another drifter; an 

unemployed school teacher from Ontario named Louis “Scotty” Colquhoun.   In the spring of 

that year Miner, Dunn and Colquhoun went ostensibly on a prospecting trip in the Kamloops 

area.  They camped a week around the Barnhartvale and Robbins Range near C.P. R. mainline, 

talking to locals.  Miner came to Kamloops to purchase food and even had a shave by a barber 

named Bayntun, later to become an alderman of Kamloops.” Bill Miner part 2, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum   

Curator/Archivist, April 22, 1983, page 1.  

On May 8, 1906, eighteen miles east of Kamloops at Furrer, B. C., Bill Miner robbed the CPR 

for the second time. He was looking for a huge shipment of cash and gold collected for the San 

Francisco earthquake relief.  The robbers compelled the engineer to uncouple the mail car and 

haul it a mile away, where they rifled it of registered mail.  Miner believed the express packages 

were in the mail car and when he found they were not, he lost his nerve, abandoned the robbery 

and attempted escape.   



That story goes like this:  at about 11:30 p.m., the Canadian Pacific Imperial Limited #97 had 

just pulled out of Ducks Station (Monte) and was moving west when it was boarded by two men 

who jumped from the coal tender into the train’s cab.   The engineer and fireman, Joe Callin and 

J. Radcliffe were confronted with two pistols and heard the command, “Hands Up!”  “And don’t 

do anything foolish and you won’t be harmed.  Stop the train at milepost 116.”   This was about 

five miles away where a third outlaw joined them carrying a newspaper wrapped bundle of 

dynamite.  The engineer and fireman were ordered to uncouple the mail and express car and 

move a few hundred yards ahead where the cars were inspected for valuables.  Two clerks were 

in the mail and express car, one of them A. L. McQuarrie saw that the gang’s leader had a large 

mustache that wasn’t concealed by his mask and estimated him to be about 50 years old.  Bill Miner 

part 1, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum Curator/Archivist,  April 15, 1983, page 1.  

Unfortunately for Bill, Shorty, and Louis, they stopped the wrong train, got away with only 15 

dollars and a bottle of Liver Pills. To make matters worse, somebody turned their horses loose.  

Attempting to escape on foot to the hills of south of Campbell Creek, it wasn’t long before they 

were rounded up.     

As the story goes: The next morning a British Columbia Provincial constable named William 

Fernie found the newspaper wrapped dynamite and the outlaw’s foot tracks heading south toward 

Nicola Valley.  

Fernie was reinforced later by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police under Sergeant J.J. Wilson 

and a group of trackers and cowboys under Chief Constable E.T.W. Pearse.  Fernie had 

discovered Miner’s gang and wisely waited for the others to arrive and at the same time Miner 

had seen Fernie.  Miner and Colquhoun talked Dunn out of shooting Fernie and then they 

hurriedly left the area.  

The Fernie and Wilson posse finally caught up with Miner, Dunn and Colquhoun near Quilchena 

as they sat and leisurely ate their lunch. Bill Miner part 1, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum Curator/Archivist, April 15, 

1983, page 3. When approached by Wilson Miner coolly announced that they were prospectors from 

Princeton.  When Wilson told them that they fit the description of the robbers Dunn panicked and 

gun play erupted.  Dunn was wounded and the other two captured without resistance. When 

found, Miner apparently surrendered to the arresting officers with his customary courteousness.  

“The police found no less than three automatics, a colt .44, two .38 revolvers, and a rifle in 

possession of the gang.  The .38 Smith and Wesson revolver taken from Miner was one stolen at 

the 1904 hold-up.” Bill Miner part 3, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum Curator/Archivist,  April 15, 1983, page 4.  Bill Miner  

an old-time outlaw seems to be more up on things than the famous Tom Horn who was not 

familiar with automatic pistols and was caught after he escaped from jail because he did not 

know how to operate an automatic.  It cost Horn his life.  



In spite of being positively identified as Bill Miner, the old bandit refused to admit anything 

insisting that he was George Edwards.  Hundreds of supporters came to town to protest his arrest 

refusing to believe this popular old gent could be the most wanted outlaw in the West. Miner and 

his accomplices were convicted and sent to the B.C. Penitentiary at New Westminster. In a few 

months Miner escaped, fled to the U.S. and resumed his career. 
http://www.cowboycountrymagazine.com/2010/11/bill-miner/  

The capture of Bill Miner and his gang caused a great sensation in Kamloops.  It was here that 

photographer Mary Spencer took her famous photographs of the Miner gang.  

“A description of Miner was forwarded by the American Pinkerton Detective Agency.  The 

tattoo mark at the base of his left thumb and another of a dancing girl on his body confirmed that 

the Mounties had “indeed got their man.”  A Vancouver newspaper described as “a rather 

striking looking fellow, erect and active and does not appear to be within ten years of his age.” 
Bill Miner part 3, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum Curator/Archivist,  April 15, 1983, page 4.  

“The trial of the trio in the Kamloops Court House attracted a hundred spectators.  “Dunn, who 

had to sit because of his leg wound, apparently laughed hysterically most of the time, while 

Colquhoun, a consumptive, coughed throughout.  Miner though kept stoical throughout the 

proceedings. Two trials were actually held with Fred Fulton representing the crown, Alex 

McIntyre the defense, Judge P.A.E. Irving presiding.  The final verdict pronounced all three men 

guilty on June 1, 1906.” Bill Miner part 3, Ken Favrholdt, Kamloops Museum Curator/Archivist,  April 15, 1983, page 4.  

Two days after the trial the three men were escorted to the C.P.R. station in Kamloops.  

Apparently the three were given cigars and departed in good humor.  Bill Miner calling out to the 

onlookers that he “would be back.” By that time, Miner's celebrity status had risen to the point 

that the tracks were reputedly lined with throngs of supporters, many of whom expressed 

satisfaction with the fact that someone had taken the very unpopular CPR to task.  

During the trial, Bill kept an egg in his pocket for good luck, and took it out and peered at it 

thoughtfully during the proceedings. "No jail can hold me, sir," Old Bill told the sentencing 

judge in the Kamloops court.   

The headlines read: “An old time Pacific Coast stage and train robber.  Escaped Aug. 8, 1907, 

from Westminster Penitentiary, British Columbia, where he was serving a life sentence.   

"Old Bill" Miner, who escaped from the New Westminster Penitentiary, New Westminster, B. C, 

August 8,  1907, where he was serving a life sentence for the robbery of the Canadian Pacific R. 

R. train at Furrer, British Columbia, on the early morning of May 9, 1906, in his early criminal 

career was one of the most remarkable single-handed stage and train robbers who ever operated 

in the far West, always going about his work in a matter-of-fact way, never posing as a bad man, 

and never taking human life. He never belonged to any organized band of "hold-ups," generally 

worked alone until later years he picked up others to assist him.”   

http://www.cowboycountrymagazine.com/2010/11/bill-miner/
http://www.cowboycountrymagazine.com/2010/11/bill-miner/
http://www.cowboycountrymagazine.com/2010/11/bill-miner/
http://www.cowboycountrymagazine.com/2010/11/bill-miner/


“On the morning of August 9, 1907, he made good his boast by crawling through a thirty-five-

foot tunnel under the fence surrounding the brickyard in the New Westminster Penitentiary. Bill 

is remembered as one of Canada most notable bandit, a peaceful soul beloved by his friends and 

jailers alike.” http://lngroup.ca/thebxstagecoach/outlawbillminer/main.html  Large rewards induced a posse to take 

up the pursuit.   He had headed for one of his hideouts in the Fraser Valley.  

Meanwhile:  “Louis Colquhoun was in the infirmary at the British Columbia Penitentiary, 

suffering from tuberculosis, when Miner's controversial escape occurred. He informed authorities 

he hadn’t seen or spoken with Miner and had no knowledge of his intentions. Colquhoun died of 

TB in the penitentiary infirmary on Saturday, September 22, 1911.   

For being a model prisoner, Shorty Dunn's life sentence was reduced to 15 years and he was 

paroled on May 25, 1915. He remained law abiding and was eventually granted Canadian 

citizenship under his true name, J. William Grell. Dunn spent his time prospecting for gold and 

drowned when his canoe overturned on the Tetsa River in far northern British Columbia in 

1927.”  By Daryl C. McClary, June 21, 2013http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  

                       
Louis Colquhoun, May 14, 1906  
Photo by Mary Spencer, Courtesy British Columbia Archives (Image No. E-00152)  

  
Shorty Dunn, Douglas Lake, May 14, 1906  
Photo by Mary Spencer Courtesy British Columbia Archives (Image No. E-00155)  



[“Both Bill Miner and his accomplice Shorty Dunn seem to have connections to the Columbia Plateau, and I am trying to see if I can connect 

Shorty Dunn to a woman in Wilbur.  Unfortunately, not much is known about either of these men, but it is fun to speculate!” Sharon Seal, 

Wenatchee, Washington] 

  
Jake Terry (1846-1913), San Quentin State Penitentiary, ca. 1896  
Courtesy California State Archives  

“Jake Terry’s association with Bill Miner ended abruptly on Friday, July 5, 1907, when he was 

killed in Sumas by Gust Lindey, a telegraph lineman, for sleeping with his wife, Anna. The 

postmortem determined that Terry had been shot twice in the head at close range with a .38 

caliber revolver. Hundreds of curious spectators viewed the notorious outlaw’s body as it lay in 

state at the Albert R. Maulsby Undertaking Parlors in Bellingham. There was no funeral and no 

one appeared to mourn the death of "Terrible Terry." On Monday, July 8, he was buried in an 

unmarked grave in potter's field at Bayview Cemetery in Bellingham at public expense. 

(Whatcom County contract with Maulsby to bury the indigent paid only $7.50. The cemetery 

received $5 paid for the plot and the sexton $2.50 for his services -- Maulsby received nothing 

for the cedar-plank casket and his work.) Although initially charged with first-degree murder, the 

case against Gust Lindey was dismissed on Saturday, October 12, 1907, by Whatcom County 

Judge Jeremiah Neterer upon motion of Prosecutor Virgil Peringer (1865-1945), when Sheriff 

Andrew Williams determined that he had acted in self-defense.” 
http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  

After he escaped from prison in 1907, he was never positively seen again in Canada, but he was 

rumored to have been seen down south of the border.  Before he went to Canada he had been in 

Lewiston, Idaho.  

 



“Bill Miner May Be In Seattle 

Coat Which would Fit Train Robber Is Picked Up On The Docks 

Seattle, Aug. 13. – A convict’s striped coat of the kind worn at the British Columbia penitentiary 

at New Westminster was picked up by M. M. Mitchell, of Ballard, on the Great Northern Docks 

about sundown Sunday night and taken to the police station. 

With two notorious criminals, Herman Wendt, who escaped from McNeil Island, and Bill Miner, 

who with three companions dug his way out of the Canadian prison Thursday night, still at large, 

the local police are inclined to attach more than passing significance to the occurrence. 

The coat is one which would fit Miner almost perfectly, as he is a small man and the garment is 

made for one of about 130 pounds. The coat is one which would fit Miner almost perfectly, as he 

is a small man and the garment is made for one of about 130 pounds.  The government stamp 

which appears on the prison garb used at the McNeil Island prison is lacking and the clues all 

point to Miner as the wearer of the garment. 

Friends in Seattle. 

Miner is known to have numerous friends in this city and in Bellingham, and the police here 

were notified as soon as he made his escape, for it was thought that he was headed this way 

because he would have much better chance to keep out of sight of the police in the larger city. 

Miner received a life sentence about a year ago for a daring holdup of a Canadian Pacific train.  

A year before he held up a train and made his escape with $30,000 with which he bought a small 

ranch and lived quietly on it until he made his second attempt, in which he was caught. 

Bill Miner is known to be a desperate character who will shoot to kill on the slightest 

provocation, and the police are watching all his old haunts in the restricted district and the 

saloons below Yesler Way for traces of him.   

The coat is stained with dirt and water and has several fresh tears as if the wearer had made rapid 

progress in rough brush or heavy undergrowth.  August 16, 1907 The Missoulian 

“Pioneer resident recalls Bill Miner by Joyce Dunn 

Herbert Hoffman (better known as Kreug), 78, is a story-teller who manages to make history 

come alive with his clear reminiscences of past events in the Chase, Shuswap and Kamloops 

area.  Among these, his memorabilia of Bill Miner, is the most exciting of all! 

Kreug’s story does not jibe on all points with recorded history. With apologies to historians and 

others involved in recording of Miner’s story, here is the saga a Kreug, then a seven-year-old 

boy, remembers it: 



“We were living in Kamloops at the time when we heard Bill Miner had robbed the train.  My 

parents knew of Bill Miner because the winter before he had stayed on Pemberton Range with a 

fellow by the name of Mr. Clark.  Bill stayed there all winter.” 

Kreug’s father George Henry Hoffman, retired section foreman of the CPR who worked in that 

capacity 18 years in Shuswap and seven years in Monte Creek, was vitally interested in Miner’s 

exploits which were front page news in those days. 

Drawing information from his elders, his father in particular, Kreug’s story tells of Bill Miner  in 

the habit of going down to the Monte Crek station “where he’s sit there in the station with 

operator Billy Plum, and listen to the telegraph.” 

“Always like to know what’s going on there,” Bill Miner used to say, Kreug tells us with a 

twinkle in his eye, adding a little regretfully: “And that’s the way they finally traced him; as to 

who he was and who was robbing the train, because he was a telegrapher across the line.” 

It all happened in 1906 and the general reaction?  Couldn’t believe it!” 

Here Kreug’s story develops quite drastically from other accounts.  According to Kreug, Bill Miner got  

$86,000 most of it in CPR securities; in cash he collected around $80,000. 

 

“Bill got on the train at Shuswap with his two pals, Shorty Dunn and Louis Colquhoun. As near 

as I can remember, Mat Crawford, the engineer on the train heard this voice behind him, saying 

“Hands Up!” At this point Kreug chuckles delightedly: “Old Crawford said he looked around 

and here was this great big gun (45 Colt revolver) and Bill Miner behind it with just these black 

eyes through the handkerchief over his face … 

“Stop the train!” was the bandit’s second command, and Kreug tells us that: 

“When Crawford looked around, he told everyone afterwards ‘the hole in that gun looked as big 

as a tunnel.”  And then Crawford told me: “I didn’t argue, I stopped the train!” 

Their horse were tied up on what is now called Miner’s Bluff, up above the railroad, Kreug said. 

There was no wagon road there then. 

“Bill Miner and his gang made them unhook the engine from the passenger train and run it ahead 

for about a mile, and while this was happening the other two robbed the mail car and they got 

this money and the CRP securities.  So what Bill Miner did, he went up on the bluff and his these 

securities in a hole in the rocks, up there somewhere. 

According to Kreug, it was by this time three or four in the morning and on the way to Campbell 

Meadows, situated directly above Miner’s Bluff, where Bill and his gang would camp for the rest 

of the night, they stopped at a home of an old trapper and his wife long enough “to make his wife 

get up and cook their breakfast, for which he gave her $100!” 



“They didn’t get very far,” Kreug recalls.  “Head constable W. L. Fernie caught up to them with 

his posse.  Shorty Dunn made a run for it when Fernie told them that they were under arrest.  

Shorty tried to get his horse to make a quick get-away, but too late!  Fernie shot him through the 

leg.  He got to be inspector after that.” 

“They brought the three bandits to Kamloops.  The jailer at that time was Antoine Penny, who 

only lived two doors from us.  Dad, who had just delivered groceries at the jail, hollered up to 

him and told him that he was wanted there.  I went up to the jail with Antoine.  The old jail was 

situated where the old Provincial Home used to be. 

“I was there when they brought them in!” Kreug says triumphantly, adding that “Shorty Dunn, 

who was wounded in the leg, said to Fernie “You might fix a man’s leg before you throw him in 

jail!”  To which Fernie replied: 

“You get in jail first and then we’ll look after your leg!” 

“Bill didn’t say a word; not ‘til they came to take him to New Westminister Penitentiary, after 

the trial. They put three men on horseback, with their feet tied underneath the saddle, so that they 

couldn’t get away.” 

“Bill Miner asked to be taken around the school. He always liked children.”  Kreug adds with a 

smile. 

“They brought the three prisoners around to the school, the old Stuart Wood School,” and then 

Bill Miner, “his two big pockets full of black-jack chewing gum, threw it over the fence to us in 

handfuls!”   Kreug says, laughing at the memory.  And then, “then there were some people 

painting a house right there, that had just been built. He (Bill Miner) turned around and said, “Ill 

be back to help you finish that job!” 

“They took him to Savona and put him on the train.  He had too many friends Bill did.  But he 

wasn’t in the pen more than two months,” Kreug says happily.  “Got out of jail because he 

promised to tell them where the CPR securities were.” 

And show them he did, under guard, retracing his steps back to his cache in the rocks, said Kreug 

… 

Kreug has other memories too.  He can remember the era of the paddle-steamers, the Ethel Ross, 

the Andover and the C. R. Lamb, operated by Captain William Louie, who sailed her from 

Enderby on Spallumchee River to Savona on Kamloops Lake. 

He remembers the robbery in 1907 by the McLean brothers at Furrow, the spot we call Dallas 

today. Kreug can recall waiting for the train to come in at the Kamloops station, and seeing the 

lights on the train; the engine immobilized, as they found out later, by the holdup.  How were 



trains held up in those days besides just boarding them as the audacious Bill Miner did?”  ‘By 

putting a tie on the track and tying a red flag to it.” 

It was Kreug Hoffman who suggested the name of “Fortune Drive” for the road from the 

Overlander bridge to North Kamloops; a fitting name which once belonged to his mother’s 

(Lillian Hoffman); uncle Willian Fortune, “one of the original overlanders.”  The Salmon Arm Observer, 

October 5, 1977 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Card From “Bill Miner” 

But It is Probably a Hoax 

Vancouver, Sept. 16. – Is Bill Miner actually in Montana, the scene of the recent hold-up on the Great 

Northern railway? 

This morning Chief of Police Chamberlin received in his mail a picture postcard which bore the name 

Miner as signature.  The card represented a scene in the town of Billings, in the south eastern portion of 

the state, and Chief Chamberlin is inclined to look upon the card as a hoax.  The signature, however, 

appears to be not unlike that of Bill Miner, who, in private life, sometimes signs himself “E. A. Miner.” 
The Calgary Herald (Calgary, Alberta) September 17, 1907 

The Provincial Police Department Superintendent F. S. Hussay “had received reports that the 

escapee had been in Spokane and also on the Flathead Reservation near Kalispell Montana.  This 

investigation took place as a result of a tip received from an informant in Portland, Oregon.  The 

informant, who reported to the Chief of Police in Portland, stated that Miner was living with an 

Indian girl on the reservation near Kalispell."  

The private Pinkerton investigator set out to follow up on these reports in early February.  He 

visited little towns near Kalispell like Dayton, Polson, St. Ignatius, Arlee, Ronan, Dixon and 



Ravalli, and admitted he spent much time in saloons trying to pick up word of his elusive 

quarry."    

From the Pinkerton Detective Agency, “Bill Miner Investigation Reports,” B. C. Attorney 

General Correspondence, B. C. Archives, GR0424. 

“The Government of The Province of British Columbia (seal), Provincial Police Department, 

Superintendent’s Office.  Feby. 14th 1910, Victoria. 

The Honourable W. J. Bowser, K. C.  Attorney-General, Victoria. 

Sir:.. Re: Bill Miner alias Geo. W. Edwards 

I have the honour to enclose herewith copies of the latest Pinkerton reports received at this office 

dated 8th and 9th instant. 

If there is no information of value received, within a few days I would recommend that he 

operative employed in this case be withdrawn. 

I have the honour to be, Sir, Your obedient servant, F. S. Hussay, Superintendent.” 

“Kalispell, Mont., Tuesday, Feb. 8, 1910 

No. 11 reports: 

I spent the day and evening moving about town and visiting the saloons without learning 

anything of interest regarding the location of the Indian villages. 

Surveyor Walker did not return to the West hotel, and the proprietor, D. B. Irish, did not know of 

anybody else in town who was as well posted as he on the Flathead Reservation.  Hence I will 

see him. 

I learned today that there are always several Indian camps about Somers the saw-mill town near 

Flathead Lake.  At 10:00 I discontinued.  

Respectfully submitted.” 

“Kalispell, Mont., Wednesday, Feb. 9, 1910. 

No. 11 reports: 

All forenoon and afternoon I moved around town, visiting the saloons, without learning anything 

of interest regarding William Miner. 

This evening I entered C. B. Marsden drug store and talked with Mr. Marsden, who has been all 

over the Flathead reservation, and is familiar with the Indians, there.  From hm I learned that the 

Indian agent lived at the Mission, and the Indian agent kept record of the whereabouts of all the 



Indians on the reservation, and that he did not allow any white men to live with the Indians, that 

was not married to a squaw, but many did so without his consent. 

Mr. Marsden made me familiar with the different stage lines of the country and also some 

general information as to the country which will be very useful to me, and he also said that at 

Dayton I could get some good information from the storekeeper there who deals with the 

Indians. 

This evening I again made several rounds of the different saloons, here without results. 

At 10:00 p.m. I discontinued. 

Respectfully submitted.” 

“The Honourable W. J. Bowser, K. C.  Attorney-General, Victoria.  Feby 17th 10 

Sir:.. Re: Bill Miner alias Geo. W. Edwards 

I enclose Pinkerton reports of 10th and 11th instant.  The operative employed on this case is stil 

pursuing his enquiries on the Flathead Reservation, Mont.  So far he has discovered nothing 

respecting the whereabouts of Mr. Miner.  It may be advisable to allow him to continue for a few 

days longer although I am beginning to suspect that the information received by the police as to 

the whereabouts of this wily outlaw was not correct.” 

“Both Bill Miner and his accomplice Shorty Dunn seem to have connections to the Columbia 

Plateau, and I am trying to see if I can connect Shorty Dunn to a woman in Wilbur.  

Unfortunately not much is known about either of these men, but it is fun to speculate!”  

Sharon Seal   

Miner then robbed any number of trains from Oregon State. In July, 1909, he held up the 

Portland Oregon Bank, getting $12,000.   

Bill was now a stoop-shouldered old gentleman with snow-white hair, a large mustache, and a 

friendly smile. Despite his age, he was still an expert horseman and had retained his shooting 

eye.  

 



 



 

The Atlanta Constitution, May 5, 1940 



On Saturday, February 18, 1911, led a five-man gang in a daring hold-up of the Southern 

Railroad Express, enroute to New Orleans from New York, near White Sulphur Springs, 

Georgia, to get $3,500.  They were captured four days later and convicted of train robbery in 

Gainsville on March 3, 1911.  

“But progress had caught up with Old Bill. News of the robbery clicked out over the telegraph 

wires to the Pinkerton office and to the local marshals. A posse was organized and Pinkerton 

operative W. H. Minster, using a map, ringed several swampy areas with his posse men, 

gradually closing in. Miner and his men were nodding over a small fire when the posse men 

crawled through the brush. "Rouse boys, the law is on us," he shouted to his men as he suddenly 

jerked awake, alerted by a sense of alarm sharpened by years of practice in eluding the chase. His 

men scrambled to their feet. Miner began firing from a kneeling position. The forest echoed with 

gunfire. Two of Miner's men went down under the fusillade, but Miner kept working his rifle. At 

last he realized the game was up and throwing down his rifle, he surrendered.  

"Well, I guess you got me, boys," was his comment as Minster snapped on the handcuffs.    

"What's your name?" asked the Pinkerton man.  "William Morgan," was the prompt reply.   

Minster studied the weather-beaten old face. "You look familiar to me," he said. After 

questioning Miner, he sent the train robber's picture to the main office in Chicago with the 

notation that the name Morgan was obviously false. William Pinkerton, took one look at the 

picture, then sent a reply back to his operative in Georgia:  

"Morgan is Bill Miner, California's train and stage robber. Alias William Morgan, George 

Anderson, Sam Anderson, California Billy, Old Bill, Bill Budd and G. W. Edwards.  Escaped 

from the New Westminster Penitentiary, Victoria, British Columbia." When Minster showed him 

the wire, Miner grinned. "That's me," he said.   

He was convicted of train robbery and sentenced to life in the Georgia State Penitentiary at 

Milledgeville. But three times in as many years the old-time outlaw proved that at least for him, 

iron bars did not a prison make. Each time he escaped he was recaptured only a few days later. 

The last time, after he had walked through swamps in waist-deep water, he confided to the 

guards who had hunted him down with dogs:   

"I guess I'm getting too old for this sort of thing."   

“Miner circumscribed his criminal escapades with two rules of conduct. He never killed anyone 

(though in his younger days he had been dangerous in a tight spot), and he robbed only 

corporations, justifying these crimes on the basis that corporations robbed the common man.  

Thus, the public related to Bill Miner and he became a folk hero in two countries. Once he was 

even cheered by crowds while being returned to prison following an escape attempt. Few 

criminals have made this kind of impact on the public.” http://www.jcs-group.com/oldwest/outlaws/miner.html  



Miner was sentenced to 20 years and Hunter and Hanford, who had pleaded guilty, received 15 

years at hard labor. On March 15, Miner, now age 64, and his two confederates were sent to the 

Newton County Convict Camp at Covington, Georgia, to work on the chain gang.   

On July 8, 1911, Miner, pleading poor health, was transferred to the Georgia State Prison Farm 

at Milledgeville. Three months later, on October 18, Miner and two other inmates escaped from 

the prison farm. He was captured on November 3 and returned to the Milledgeville prison. 

Miner, accompanied by two prisoners, made another escape attempt on June 27, 1912, but was 

captured on July 3 in a swamp near Toomsboro, just 20 miles from the prison farm.”  He would 

spend the last years of his life tending a flower garden and dictating his adventures to a friendly 

detective that got to like the old thief. http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285     

“By holding up a train in the state of Georgia in 1911, Miner earned himself the title "Last of the 

Old Time Bandits." http://www.jcs-group.com/oldwest/outlaws/miner.html  

“Here Is The Life Story Of Old Bill Miner Told By Himself In U. S. Jail 

Famous Bandit and Train Robber Tells His Own Story to Georgia Reporter – Has Been a 

Wanderer on Face of Globe – Never Shot a Man and Never Robbed the Poor – How He Was 

Caught the Last Time. 

An interesting interview with “Old Bill” Miner, the most famous train bandit of the present day, 

who was recently sentenced to serve a twenty year sentence in the Gainesville penitentiary, was 

secured a few days ago by a newspaper man, who was permitted to speak to the notorious outlaw 

for about an hour.  The article will be read with interest by the thousands of persons in this city 

who were “personally acquainted with the modern day Robin Hood. 

Here is the story sent out from Gainesville. 

In the condemned cell of the county jail here is confined the most remarkable man ever 

convicted in the Georgia courts, and one of the most notable criminals in the history of crime on 

the continent. He is none other than the famous Bill Miner, the train robber, the “Lifer” who 

escaped from Westminister penitentiary in British Columbia a couple of years ago, after serving 

three years of his term in attempting to rob a C. P. R. train near Ducks, B.C. His escape after a 

long period of model conduct, during which he professed Christianity, caused a great sensation 

in Canada at the time, and even led to a debate in the house of commons in Ottawa. 

Study of Psychology 

Bill Miner is a study in psychology, a man of iron nerve and desperate courage, he never took a 

life in all his wild career, not even when the door of liberty would have opened before him.  His 

course has been marked by deeds of spontaneous kindness and benevolence as reckless as his 

crimes.  A little man, undersized, and of slight build, with grizzled gray mustache and steely 

http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285
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eyes, his life’s story reads stranger than fiction, as the following account, gleaned mostly from 

his own lips, show how he escaped: 

Miner’s escape from British Columbia was undoubtedly due to the fast that he behaved 

extraordinarily well in prison, and made friends with everyone he came in contact with.  One 

afternoon, just after the prisoners had been sent out to their respective duties, his escape call was 

sounded, and guards were sent out, as Miner and three other prisoners had been found missing. 

Found Tunnel 

A large tunnel, running under the high wooden wall that surrounds the prison yards into a patch 

of shrubbery beyond was discovered, but no trace of the missing trio could be found. A careful 

and never relinguishing search was instituted, but nothing could be learned of the escaper three, 

and finally the case was turned over to the Pinkerton agency, who could do nothing to relieve the 

situation.  

The grizzled old scamp does not admit that he received any outside or inside help in his escape.  

He says he went to California, after fleeing from Canada, and to secure funds, held up and 

robbed a stage coach.  He secured enough booty to insure himself a trip across the world in 

perfect luxury. 

“I then made my way to Europe, where I spent about six months,” he says, “returning to 

America, where I went ‘dead broke’ from giving a poor widow most of my money in order to 

send her daughter to Hot Springs, Arkansas, for treatment which would cure her seemimgly 

hopeless case of rheumatism.   The balance I lost in  gambling hall in a California town. 

His Life Story. 

“Let us begin at the beginning,” he said, in relating the details of the picturesque life. “I was born 

in the family of a prosperous and law-abiding farmer in Bowling Green, Kentucky, in the year 

1843.  I attended school until I became 16, when, like the majority of us boys, I became imbued 

with the fever to go west. In company with two of my boy friends I made for Texas, going on 

through to California, where my first robbery was turned.  Becoming short of funds we found 

ourselves in a hole, so they put it up to “Bill,” as they called me.” 

Miner at once suggested train robbery, and as this meant another series of adventures to the trio 

of runaways, they at once began putting the plan into effect, and the authorities at a prominent 

California county seat were notified one day shortly afterwards, that a stage coach had been held 

up in about the nerviest style ever witnessed, and that $75,000 was stolen. 

Gave Booty to Friends 

Miner says he gave the majority of the booty to his friends and secured them jobs, going into the 

vocation of mining.  He was never caught for thar first hold-up. 



After finding the trick so easy, he robbed several stage coaches, many of the jobs being turned by 

himself alone.  He was very successful until he struck San Quentin, Oregon [California actually], 

where he was caught; in the attempt to rob a stage. The only reason given for his capture was that 

he gave up rather than shoot a fellow man, the driver, and Bill Miner doesn’t regret his act as yet, 

for his skirts are as clear of murder as an angel’s are of dirt. 

A Twenty-Five Year Sentence 

In the San Quentin courts he was sentenced to twenty-five years. However, on good behavior, he 

only served nine and was freed. When he inhaled the breath of liberty, he found himself short of 

funds.  Three days afterwards a prominent express company of Oregon [California] found 

themselves $25,000 short from a safe rifled near San Francisco, on the ‘Frisco road.  A few 

weeks later found Bill Miner in the mining camps of Australia. 

“I was never caught for that robbery, nor even suspected,” he says proudly. 

Miner went from Australia to Turkey, and made the acquaintance of a slave dealer, who carried 

him around on his various slave-buying trips. 

From Turkey to Australia 

After touring about Australia, making money in the mining camps, he went to Europe, and 

finally, growing tired of foreign countries, returned to America, where he mined extensively.  

The love of adventure came back, and shortly after his return, another express train was robbed 

of a large sum in Oreon, and Miner was suspected. He fled, traveling from coast to coast in 

luxurious parlor cars, staying at the best hotels in the large cities, and occupying a box in some 

big theater every night. 

His life of luxury, however, soon came to a termination.  His funds grew short, and he had no 

means of accumlation, so he began to hobo his way back to the west, where he traveled on 

burros, slept in woods or hollow logs, his pipe and his plug his only consolations.   Truly, life 

was like a gambler’s purse. 

Life Sentence in Canada 

Miner soon wearied of life in a miner’s camp so he decided to again hit the trailof the “dynamied 

safe.”  In 1906, he with two others, held up and robbed a Southern Pcific mail and express near 

San Quetin, Oegon.  He was suspected of being the leader in the hold-up, and was carefully 

watched.  He crossed into Canada, and was soon caught for the attempted robbery of a C.P.R. 

train, near Ducks, British Coumbia.   This came near being his undoing, and “Old Bill” Miner 

was arrested, tried and sentenced for life in the Westminister penitentiary, British Columbia. 

After his escape and visit to Europe, he returned to mining in America. 



“I came to a small Oregon town on the eve of Thanksgiving.” He said, “with a large amount of 

dust. I stepped into a store, and bought a cigar.  A nicely dressed man came in and began 

ordering a large amount of groceries.  My curiousity was aroused, and I inquiredfor whom he 

was buying so many eatables.  He stated that he was a member of the relief committee of his 

town, buying groceries for a dinner to the places poor for Thanksgiving.  I pulled out my bag of 

dust, and scraping a small amount into a tobacco sack, handed the remainder over to the 

groceryman, and said: “Here, pardner, take this, and give the poor people  all it’ll buy.” 

That broke Miner and he went into an adjoining state, and held up a stage coach.  Shortly 

thereafter he spent every cent he had in trying to educate two young struggling hopefuls whom 

he met on his travekls. 

A Clerk in Philadelphia 

Upon arriving in Pennsylvania in 1909, he got a job with a lumber concern in Philadelphia in the 

electrical deparetment, and made good. He stayed with them until the spring of 1910, when he 

met a nice young man named Hunter, to whom he took a decided fancy.  They roomed together 

until one day, the feverish desire for excitement was too much for Miner, and he pursuaded 

Hunter to go with him on the road.  They left for Georgia, worked at sawmills, and picked up 

odd jobs here and there, walking and hoboing, part of the time, and when a small stake was 

accumulated, taking to the cushions, until they got to Virginia, where they met a young fellow 

named Hanford, to whom they outlined their plans.  Hanford left his parents’ theshold and joined 

the party. 

The Culminating Robbery 

They then came to Lula, Ga., where they secured employment with a sawmill, with which they 

worked for about two months, leaving one night about dusk, to be seen nor more for some time.  

The following morning, about 4 o’lock, authorities at Lula were notified of a daring robbery 

committed upon the express car of the Southwestern Limited, of the Southern railway; the big 

portable safe having been looted and a large amount taken.  The three employees of the sawmill 

did not return for work that morning. 

But no one suspected that the notorious Bill Miner was at his old game.  The work of blowing 

the safe appeared to be crude, and suspicion was directed to local men, until a man about 70 

years of age, was caught by two mountaineers near Gainesville, as a suspect. 

Recognized Old Bill Miner. 

He was brought to town, where a large party of railroad and express officials were awaiting 

arrests, and the prisoner was declared by a Pinkerton detective to be “Old Bill” Miner.  The 

suspect kept a closed mouth and would reveal nothing, but the two other men captured 

confessed, and implicated Miner a being the leader.  In town Miner was the target for thousands 



of curious eyes, anxious to get a glimpse of the first bandit who ever held up a train in Georgia.  

He was tried and sentenced to twent years in the penitentiary, mainly on the evidence of his 

companions in crime. 

During his long period of criminal operation Miner has never been known to rob the poor and 

needy, confining his plundering to express companies and railroads.  He declares he has educated 

over twenty-five boys and girls, and set on their feet many men who needed a helping hand. He 

posesses a splendid self-acquired education; a wonderful faculty for studying human natures; and 

has a tongue, wit and brain second to none. Although exceedingly wild from the age of sixteen, 

he never relaxed his attentions to religion, and he is as well versed on the Bible as many 

preachers.  Apparently he has a code of morals all his own. 

Pinkerton Says He’ll Escape. 

Miner is held in the condemned cell of the county jail, which is safer than any other section of 

the prison. He seems comfortably situated and never grumbles. 

He is polite and courteous to every visitor that comes and never fails to hold up his end of the 

conversation.  His chances of escape, so far as the building is concerned are very good, and a 

heavy guard is kept near his cell throughout the night.  William Pinkerton, of Pinkerton’s 

national detective agency, stated, while here on a trip for the specific purpose of seeing Miner, 

that the prisoner would neve stay in a road camp, and that unless he died, Miner would not be in 

a Georgia jail for one year – and he is more than likely right. 

Miner gets much sympathy on account of his fair and square ways and his old age.  Every day he 

receives dainties and food from some of the best ladies in the town, many of them bringing it 

themselves, anxious to visit him at every possible chance.  When his trial occurred before a 

special term of Hall county superior court, the entire enclosure around the bar was filled with 

ladies.  He said nothing dring the proceedings and the only words he uttered came after the 

sentence had been passed, when he arose and thanked the judge saying: 

“Thanks, judge; robbery is robbery, and here’s another case.” 

He then turned to a large group of women and said that there was only one law in his case, and it 

was laid down by the ten commandments.  He also said that whether or not he had robbed the 

Southern Express company, the courts had endeavored to rob him of what remained of his life, 

“but another guess was coming their way,” he remarked, with a shy wink. 

Freak of Fortune 

It will be an odd prank of fate, if Bill Miner, the most famous of American train robbers, should 

end his days in a remote Georgia prison, whose walls seldom hold anything more desperate than 

a poor unoffending revenue prisoner, taken from the mountains for earning his livelihood in the 

barren hillsby manufacturing whiskey. 



But it is a two-to-one shot that he will be heard from again, when his token of remembrance will 

be a hole in the wall of the Georgia prison, left as a memento of his historic visit.”   The Calgary Herald, 

March 21, 1911 

 “After his 1911 capture and conviction for train robbery in Georgia, Bill Miner became a great 

favorite of the Georgia press. Several newspapers repeatedly interviewed him and then flattered 

him with their press releases. As the old bandit openly granted more interviews and talked freely 

to reporters, he inadvertently allowed glimpses into his character. The rapport that developed 

between the outlaw and the Georgia press afforded rare insights into Bill Miner the bandit and 

Bill Miner the man.” http://www.jcs-group.com/oldwest/outlaws/miner.htm  

“Politically, Miner claimed he was a socialist, but when he had money, he thoroughly enjoyed 

living a fashionable life in high society, dressing in the latest style, and spending his money 

freely. Intellectually, he had a keen mind, and even though he had no formal schooling he was 

highly literate and had a good command of speech. This he owed to his mother, a schoolteacher 

who seems to have ensured that he received a decent education.”   http://www.jcs-

group.com/oldwest/outlaws/miner.html  

“Throughout Miner's life he pursued women and engaged in numerous love affairs. He even 

became engaged to a socially prominent young woman in Michigan in 1880. Much mystery 

surrounds Miner's life as a result of his habitual lying and misleading statements. Over the years 

he used at least seven aliases and could spin a tale so convincing that to this day many are 

accepted as fact. Fanciful tales were as much a part of Bill Miner as was his ability to influence 

everyone around him. As he grew older the tales seemed to become truth to him. Bill Miner, like 

the people who extolled and idolized him, came to believe the legend he created.” http://www.jcs-

group.com/oldwest/outlaws/miner.html  

During his last “… Miner nearly drowned when a small boat the fugitives had stolen capsized.  

Miner ingested a large quantity of fetid swamp water and came down with a severe case of 

gastritis. He battled the affliction for more than a year before succumbing on Tuesday, 

September 2, 1913. He was buried in an unmarked grave at Memory Hill Cemetery in 

Milledgeville on September 8, 1913.   

After the “wizened sixty-six-year-old relic of a man died, one of the largest newspapers in the 

Southeast ran a four-column photograph and two stories extolling him, all on the front page. One 

of these articles described him as "a kindly, lovable old man, whose thoughts were humorous, 

whose manner was that of one who was a friend to all humankind ... the most courtly, the most 

kindly spoken, the most venerable man ... one whom they all regard with affection and 

something of esteem." These words do not portray a great philanthropist, a well-known religious 

leader, or even a benevolent old southern statesman, but rather a stagecoach bandit and train 

robber, a criminal who from the age of eighteen had spent more than thirty-seven years behind 

bars. The words describe Old Bill Miner.” http://www.jcs-group.com/oldwest/outlaws/miner.html  
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“Bill Miner … has been largely neglected by historians and writers of Western Americana. This 

is strange: Miner, during a criminal career spanning some fifty years, achieved notoriety 

throughout the western United States, as well as in Canada and the Deep South. No other Old 

West bandit accumulated such a lengthy and wide-ranging record. Even Jesse James's career 

lasted only one-third as long as Bill Miner's. Bill Miner robbed more stagecoaches and only one 

less train than did the James-Younger band.” http://www.jcs-group.com/oldwest/outlaws/miner.html  

It is surprising that no full-length biography of Bill Miner has yet appeared. Countless books 

have been published about other bandits and bad men of the Old West, but comparatively little 

has been written about Bill Miner. Even after the release of the charming 1983 film The Grey 

Fox ( in which he was played by Richard Farnsworth)  which dramatized Miner's exploits as an 

aging train robber during the early years of this century and made him known to the modern 

public, no factual studies have appeared, with the exception of a chapter on Miner's Colorado 

career in Bandit Years: A Gathering Of Wolves (1987) by Mark Dugan and a chapter on his 

California exploits in Badge and Buckshot: Lawlessness in Old California (1988) by John 

Boessenecker.   

But they eventually wrote a book about him. 

A number of books about Miner or that have chapters on him such as "Interred With Their  

Bones: Bill Miner in Canada 1903-1907", by Peter Grauer and Outlaw Tales of Washington by 

Elizabeth Gibson, and Old Bill Miner: Last of the Famous Western Bandits by Frank W. 

Anderson are now out there.  

His principal biography is The Grey Fox: The True Story of Bill Miner, Last of the Old Time 

Bandits, by Mark Dugan and John Boessenecker (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 

1992). 

Miner's time in British Columbia propelled his celebrity there in many ways since.  B.C. 

restaurant chain, the Keg Steakhouse & Bar, have named drinks and their famous Billy Miner 

Pie after the train robber. Their early decor also showed many photos of Miner.  

A mural depicting Miner's robbery near Monte Creek has been painted on the exterior south wall 

of Cactus Jacks Saloon & Dance Hall located in the building at the corner of 5th Avenue & 

Lansdowne Street in Kamloops, British Columbia.  

Maple Ridge, British Columbia features the Billy Miner Pub which is located in historic Port 

Haney on the bank of the Fraser River. The pub is located in the original Bank of Montreal 

building built in the early 1900s.  

Tin Whistle Brewing Co. a microbrewery from Penticton B.C. launched a Red Ale titled "Hands Up!" as 

a commemoration to Miner. 
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Some speculate that Miner left a hidden cache of loot in the forests south of Silverdale after the 

first robbery. Some believe he used these funds to fund his escape, while others surmise that 

there is still hidden loot to be found there.  

Miner escaped in death as well. It was discovered several years ago his headstone was in the 

wrong location and name spelled wrong. A new headstone was put in the correct spot and spelled 

correctly. The old one was kept where it was.  

Mount Miner near Princeton, formerly Bald Mountain or Baldy, was renamed in Bill Miner's 

honor in response to a motion by the Princeton Board of Trade in 1952. Miner had lived on the 

ranch owned by Jack Budd, which was on the other side of this mountain from Princeton, while 

planning the robbery at Duck's.  "Mount Miner" BC Geographical Names.  

 

  

  
Bill Miner's gravestone, Memorial Hill Cemetery, Milledgeville, Georgia  

Photo by Rob Leverett, Courtesy Find A Grave Memorial (Image No. 7968336)  

 In February 1964, local historian James C. Bonner had a headstone placed on Bill Miner’s 

grave. The engraving reads "Bill Miner -- The Last of the Famous Western Bandits, Born 1843, 

Died in the Milledgeville State Prison Sept. 2, 1914." The dates of birth and death were wrong, 

but it was a nice sentiment and underscored Miner’s propensity to lie about his history.”  

http://www.historylink.org/index.cfm?displaypage=output.cfm&file_id=10285  
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Bill Miner (1846-1913), San Quentin State Penitentiary, ca. 1881  

Courtesy California State Archives 

 

  

 

The author Peter Grauer passed away earlier this year, but his website is still maintained by his 

family.  I think that his wife is planning to get his second book published this fall, and likely is 

very familiar with his research, so she might be a good resource for discovering more about the 

Montana connection to Bill Miner.  And the Spokane connections, which I am most interested in. 

Here is a link to that website: http://www.billminer.ca/journal.htm 

 

http://www.billminer.ca/journal.htm
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